DIVISION TWO
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
DENISE LARKINS,
Appellant.
PEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE E OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY
The Honorable Jerry Costello, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Appellant

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney at Law P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

1.	Procedural History
2.	Substantive Facts
C.	ARGUMENT
1.	LARKINS'S CONDUCT DID NOT VIOLATE THE SECOND DEGREE FELONY MURDER STATUTE, AND HER CONVICTION MUST BE DISMISSED
2.	ALLOWING PROSECUTION FOR SECOND DEGREE MURDER BASED UPON AN ASSAULT PREDICATE VIOLATES EQUAL PROTECTION PRINCIPLES AND DUE PROCESS MANDATES OF FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS 15
3.	THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON SELF DEFENSE VIOLATED LARKINS'S RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE
4.	THE REASONABLE DOUBT INSTRUCTION UNDERCUTS THE STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF BY ERRONEOUSLY EQUATING THE JURY'S JOB WITH A SEARCH FOR THE "TRUTH" RATHER THAN A TEST OF THE PROSECUTION'S CASE
5.	THE COURT'S FAILURE TO VACATE THE MANSLAUGHTER CONVICTION VIOLATES DOUBLE JEOPARDY

D	CONCLUSION	2.	1
ν.	CONCLUSION	۰.	+

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases In re the Personal Restraint of Andress, 147 Wn.2d 602, 56 P.3d 981 State v. Armstrong, 143 Wn. App. 333, 178 P.3d 1048 (2008), review State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) 28, 29, 30, 31

<u>State v. Garcia-Martinez</u> , 88 Wn. App. 322, 944 P.2d 1104 (1997), <u>review denied</u> , 136 Wn.2d 1002 (1998)
<u>State v. Gordon</u> , 153 Wn. App. 516, 223 P.3d 519 (2009), <u>reversed on other grounds</u> , 172 Wn.2d 671 (2011)
State v. Handley, 115 Wn.2d 275, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990)
State v. Irons, 101 Wn. App. 544, 4 P.3d 174 (2000)
State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 850 P.2d 495 (1993)
State v. Leech, 114 Wn.2d 700, 790 P.2d 160 (1990)
<u>State v. Manussier</u> , 129 Wn.2d 652, 921 P.2d 473 (1996), <u>cert</u> . <u>denied sub nom Manussier v. Washington</u> , 520 U.S. 1201 (1997)
State v. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983)
State v. Neher, 112 Wn.2d 347, 771 P.2d 330 (1989)
<u>State v. Pirtle</u> , 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995), <u>cert</u> . <u>denied</u> , 518 U.S. 1026 (1996)
<u>State v. Pyles</u> , 9 Wn. App. 246, 511 P.2d 1374, <u>review denied</u> , 82 Wn.2d 1013 (1973)
<u>State v. Read</u> , 147 Wn.2d 238, 53 P.3d 26 (2002)
<u>State v. Riley</u> , 137 Wn.2d 904, 976 P.2d 624 (1999)
State v. Roberts, 117 Wn.2d 576, 817 P.2d 855 (1991)
<u>State v. Shriner</u> , 101 Wn.2d 576, 681 P.2d 237 (1984)
<u>State v. Turner</u> , 169 Wn.2d 448, 238 P.3d 461 (2010)
<u>State v. Tyree</u> , 143 Wash. 313, 255 P. 382 (1927)
State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997)
<u>State v. Williams</u> , 132 Wn.2d 248, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997)
State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007)

Federal Cases

<u>Ball v. United States</u> , 470 U.S. 856, 105 S.Ct. 1668, 84 L.Ed.2d 740 (1985)
Baxstrom v. Herold, 383 U.S. 107, 86 S. Ct. 760, 15 L. Ed. 2d 620 (1966)
<u>Dandridge v. Williams</u> , 397 US. 471, 90 S. Ct. 1153, 25 L. Ed. 2d 491 (1970)
<u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u> , 508 U.S. 274, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993)
Constitutional Provisions
U.S. Const. amend. V
U.S. Const. amend. VI
U.S. Const., amend. XIV
Wash. Const. art. I, § 21
Wash. Const. art. I, § 22
Wash. Const. art. I, § 9
Wash. Const. art. I, §12
Statutes
Laws of 2003, ch.3
RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a)
RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b)
RCW 9A.32.070
Other Authorities
WPIC 4.01

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Under the rules of statutory construction, the rule of lenity and In re the Personal Restraint of Andress, RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b) must be interpreted to apply only to assault predicates which are separate from the act causing the death.
- 2. Appellant's conviction of second degree felony murder violates his State and Federal constitutional rights to equal protection and fundamental fairness.
- 3. The court's refusal to instruct the jury on self defense violated appellant's right to present a defense.
- 4. The trial court's reasonable doubt instruction undercut the burden of proof and confused the jury's role in the judicial process.
- 5. The court's failure to vacate the second degree manslaughter conviction violated appellant's right to be free from double jeopardy.

Issues pertaining to assignments of error

1. The only way to avoid an absurd and nonsensical result and comply with the rule of lenity is to interpret the current second degree felony murder statute so as to permit conviction based upon the predicate crime of assault only if the assault is not the conduct which results in the

1

¹ 147 Wn.2d 602, 56 P.3d 981 (2002).

death. Should this Court so interpret the statute, and should the conviction be reversed where the predicate assault in this case was the conduct which caused the death?

- 2. Does the current second degree felony murder statute violate equal protection where there is no limit to the prosecutor's discretion to charge a higher crime for the same acts and no basis for treating similarly situated defendants differently? Further, does it offend fundamental principles of fairness to allow such unfettered discretion to arbitrarily select which defendant faces far greater punishment for the exact same act?
- 3. The trial court declined to give appellant's proposed self defense instructions. The court agreed that appellant presented some evidence that she subjectively feared she was in danger and that her fear was objectively reasonable, but the court concluded that the amount of force she used was not reasonably necessary. Where appellant presented expert testimony regarding her mental state from which the jury could find that she used the amount of force which under the circumstances appeared reasonably necessary to her, was the court required to instruct the jury on self defense?
- 4. The jury's role is to determine whether the State has proved the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt, not to divine "the truth" of

the allegation. Nonetheless, the jury was instructed to return a guilty verdict if it had "an abiding belief in the truth of the charge." Did this instruction confuse the jury's constitutional function and the prosecutor's burden so as to require reversal?

5. Principles of double jeopardy prohibit punishing a defendant twice for the same offense. Appellant was convicted of both felony murder and second degree manslaughter for the same offense. The court merged the offenses for sentencing purposes but refused to vacate the manslaughter conviction, stating that to do so would be unjust because the jury had returned that verdict. Where the existence of the second conviction constitutes punishment in violation of double jeopardy, must the manslaughter conviction be vacated?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Procedural History</u>

On December 19, 2011, the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant Denise Larkins with one count of second degree murder based on intent to kill and one count of second degree felony murder, with first or second degree assault as the predicate felony. CP 1-2; RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a); RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b). The State amended the information to include an alternative of third degree assault in the felony

murder charge. CP 3-4. The case proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Jerry Costello. The jury returned a guilty verdict on the lesser included offense of second degree manslaughter on Count I and a guilty verdict on the felony murder charge. CP 176-77. Finding that the manslaughter conviction merged with the felony murder conviction, the court imposed a standard range sentence of 220 months on the latter. CP 232. Larkins filed this timely appeal. CP 274.

2. Substantive Facts

On the morning of December 16, 2011, Michelle Johnson had a dispute with her boyfriend, and she called her friend Denise Larkins, asking Larkins to come pick her up. $6RP^2$ 581. Johnson and Larkins spent the day together running errands. 6RP 563, 581. They eventually arrived at Johnson's mother's house in Spanaway, where Johnson's daughter, Mika-Ann Jeter, lived. 4RP 338-39. Larkins became upset while there, saying more than once that she wanted to leave. 5RP 402. They finally left, agreeing to give Jeter a ride to her other grandmother's house to visit her father and brothers. 4RP 338; 5RP 403. Johnson drove because Larkins was unfamiliar with the area. 5RP 406.

-

² The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is contained in eight volumes, designated as follows: 1RP—5/29/13; 2RP—5/29/13; 3RP—5/3/13, 6/3-4/13; 4RP—6/5/13; 5RP—6/13/13; 6RP—6/17/13; 7RP—6/18/13; 8RP—6/19-20/13, 8/20/13.

Larkins and Johnson argued during the entire drive. Johnson was upset because Larkins mentioned Johnson's drug use in front of Jeter, and Johnson felt that was disrespectful. 4RP 346; 5RP 407. Johnson was the type of person who wanted to win in an argument, and she was pretty good at it. 5RP 404. She slapped Larkins while they were stopped at a gas station. 5RP 406, 423.

When they arrived at Jeter's grandmother's house, Johnson got out of the car and Larkins moved to the driver's seat. 4RP 347. Larkins started to drive away, but Johnson held on through the open driver's window, because her bags were still in the car. 5RP 411. Larkins stopped and stepped out of the vehicle, and the argument continued. 4RP 349. Johnson struck Larkins in the head twice and then got her bags out of the car. 4RP 350-51, 371; 5RP 413-14. Larkins did not fight back. Instead, she got back in the car and called 911 to report that she had been assaulted. 4RP 372-73; 5RP 414. Jeter went into the house, and Johnson started walking down the street. 4RP 374.

Neighbors and passersby noticed the argument. 4RP 304; 5RP 387, 450. More than one called police to report a domestic dispute. 4RP 306; 5RP 390, 427.

Larkins followed Johnson as she walked down the street. 4RP 272. She was still on the phone with 911, and Larkins told the 911

operator that she was following Johnson. 6RP 571. She said that Johnson had gone inside the house, maybe to get a gun, and when Johnson came out Larkins started following her. 6RP 604. The operator told Larkins to let Johnson leave and to find a street sign and pull over so she could identify her location. 6RP 571.

When Johnson entered the intersection, Larkins's car veered toward her and knocked her down. The front and back tires went over Johnson, and Larkins drove away. 4RP 274-76; 5RP 431. Johnson died at the scene as a result of blunt force injury to the head. 6RP 619.

Larkins, still on the phone with 911 and requesting assistance, kept driving. She pulled into a parking lot and waited for police. When Officer Eric Barry arrived, she flashed her lights and honked her horn to get his attention. 5RP 478.

Barry contacted Larkins and asked her what happened. Larkins said she had given Johnson a ride to the area of 43rd and J Streets, and she started feeling unsafe, because she believed Johnson's family members were involved with gangs and weapons. 5RP 483, 498, 504. Larkins said she and Johnson started to argue, then Johnson started punching her. Johnson had a bottle of Mike's Hard Lemonade in her hand, and she was swinging it at Larkins. When Johnson walked into the house, Larkins started to drive off, but then Johnson ran toward the car and started hitting

the passenger side of the vehicle. Larkins kept driving, and when she looked in the rearview mirror she saw Johnson in the street. 5RP 484-85. Larkins told Barry she did not think she ran over anything. She drove away because she felt unsafe, and she called 911. 5RP 486.

Larkins also told Barry that she has Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and takes prescribed medications. 5RP 486. She asked several times if she could take her medication or have some water, but Barry told her she could not. 5RP 506.

While Larkins was talking to Barry in the parking lot, other officers transported a woman who had witnessed Johnson and Larkins arguing in the street. The witness identified Larkins one of the people she had seen. 5RP 454-55; 487-88.

Barry then drove Larkins to the police station, and they continued their conversation. 5RP 489. Larkins told him that she was concerned "the Feds" were looking at her, because she had noticed weird cars following her. She thought "the Feds" were interested in her because of her boyfriend's drug dealing. 5RP 497. Larkins mentioned that she had used methamphetamine around 2:00 that morning. 5RP 498.

Detective Ryan Larsen interviewed Larkins at the police station.

Larkins told Larsen that she and Johnson had been arguing all day. 5RP

564. She told Johnson several times that she wanted to go home, but

Johnson dismissed her concerns. When she accused Johnson of being a crack smoker, Johnson felt disrespected. Johnson hit Larking in the head twice. Instead of fighting back, Larkins called 911. 6RP 656. Larkins described her 911 calls to Larsen, and her description was consistent with the recordings of the actual calls. 6RP 567.

Larkins told Larsen that she had PTSD and suffered from anxiety and panic attacks. 6RP 595. Larkins said a couple of times during the course of the interview that her panic attack had kicked in. 6RP 570.

Larsen asked Larkins several times if she had hit Johnson, and Larkins said she had not. He asked if she had maybe bumped Larsen, and Larkins said absolutely not. Larkins said she had turned in front of Johnson, and as she drove away she saw in her rearview mirror that Johnson was lying in the road. Larkins thought it might have been a ploy and that Johnson was trying to set her up to come back. 6RP 571. Larkins said that one of the reasons she kept driving was that Johnson's "gangster ass kid with guns" was coming. 6RP 597. She thought everyone was going to come and harm her. <u>Id</u>. Larkins was surprised when Larsen told her that Johnson was dead. 6RP 598.

Larkins told Larsen that she was afraid of Johnson, and she had been dealing with her assaultive and argumentative behavior for 13 years. 6RP 594. Larkins knew that Johnson had been in a physical altercation

with her boyfriend that day, and earlier that week she had struck another woman. 6RP 594. Larkins also believed that Johnson's family members were associated with gangs, were violent, and had guns. She thought that Johnson might even have a gun and that she went into the house to get it. 6RP 594, 596.

At trial, Larkins presented a defense of diminished capacity. Dr. Gregg Gagliardi and Dr. Delton Young testified that they conducted forensic psychological examinations and determined that Larkins suffers from a host of mental health problems originating in early childhood, including complex PTSD. 7RP 701, 749. Both experts gave their opinion that Larkins's mental health disorders impaired her ability to form the intent to kill or cause bodily harm. 7RP 711, 718, 765-66.

The jury was instructed on intentional murder and the lesser included offenses of first and second degree manslaughter. It returned a guilty verdict on second degree manslaughter. The jury was also instructed on felony murder predicated on first, second or third degree assault, and it returned a guilty verdict on that count as well.

C. ARGUMENT

1. LARKINS'S CONDUCT DID NOT VIOLATE THE SECOND DEGREE FELONY MURDER STATUTE, AND HER CONVICTION MUST BE DISMISSED.

The felony murder statute is ambiguous and therefore must be interpreted in Larkins's favor. Under the rule of lenity, where a statute is ambiguous and thus subject to several interpretations, the Court is required to adopt the interpretation most favorable to the defendant. State v. Roberts, 117 Wn.2d 576, 586, 817 P.2d 855 (1991). Further, when interpreting a statute, a reviewing court must try to construe it in order to effect its purpose, but "strained, unlikely, or absurd consequences resulting from a literal reading are to be avoided." State v. Leech, 114 Wn.2d 700, 708-709, 790 P.2d 160 (1990) (quoting State v. Neher, 112 Wn.2d 347, 351, 771 P.2d 330 (1989)). In addition, because it is presumed that the Legislature does not intend absurd results, courts will not construe a statute to allow such a result. In re the Personal Restraint of Andress, 147 Wn.2d 602, 610, 56 P.3d 981 (2002); see State v. Vela, 100 Wn.2d 636, 641, 673 P.2d 185 (1985).

After the decision in <u>Andress</u>, the Legislature amended the second degree felony murder statute to provide, in relevant part:

A person is guilty of murder in the second degree when ... he or she commits or attempts to commit any felony, including assault ... and, in the course of and in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight therefrom, he or she, or another participant, causes the death of a person other than one of the participants [.]

RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b); Laws of 2003, ch.3, § 1 (statute amended in response to Andress). Although the statute does not specify whether it applies to an assault which is the act resulting in death or only to separate assaults, the Washington State Supreme Court has examined the "in furtherance of" language in another context and held that it means that the death has to be "sufficiently close in time and place" to the underlying felony so as "to be part of the res gestae of that felony." Leech, 114 Wn.2d at 706.

In Andress, the Court applied Leech and held that the language of the felony murder statute requiring the death to be "in the course of and in furtherance of the predicate felony, or in immediate flight therefrom," meant that the Legislature could not have intended to include assault as a predicate felony, because:

the statute would provide, essentially, that a person is guilty of second degree felony murder when he or she commits or attempts to commit assault on another, causing the death of the other, and the death was sufficiently close in time and place to that assault to be part of the res gestae of the assault. It is nonsensical to speak of a criminal act - an assault, that results in death as being part of the res gestae of that same criminal act since the conduct constituting the assault and the homicide are the same. Consequently, in the case of assault there will never be a res gestae issue because the assault will always be directly linked to the homicide.

Andress, 147 Wn.2d at 610 (emphasis added). It was necessary to reject this "absurd" interpretation, the Court held, because otherwise "the 'in furtherance of' language would be meaningless as to that predicate felony" as "the assault is not independent of the homicide." 147 Wn.2d at 610. Indeed, as the Supreme Court later noted, the "felony murder statute is intended to apply when the underlying felony is distinct from, yet related to, the homicidal act." In re Bowman, 162 Wn.2d 325, 331, 172 P.3d 681 (2007).

Although the new statute specifically includes reference to assault as the predicate felony, it still suffers from the same infirmity as that which led the Andress Court to its inescapable conclusion. The statute still contains the same "in furtherance of" language which the Supreme Court found in Andress would be rendered superfluous by allowing conviction for felony murder based upon an assault which causes death. And the statutory language is still nonsensical if applied to such situations, because it still speaks of "a criminal act—an assault, that results in death as being part of the res gestae of that same criminal act," even though "the conduct constituting the assault and the homicide are the same." Andress, 147 Wn.2d at 610

Because the statute does not specify whether it applies to all assaults, or only to those which are separate from the act which causes the

death, but it still contains the "in furtherance of" language, it is ambiguous. Applying the rule of lenity and the rules of statutory construction against absurd results, and assuming the Legislature did not intend such results, the Court is required to interpret the statute to apply only to assaults which are separate from the act causing death. This is the only way to avoid rendering superfluous the "in furtherance of" language or requiring an absurd result. It is also the only way to honor the Legislature's apparent desire to include at least some assaults as predicate felonies for second-degree felony murder while following these mandates of statutory construction.

In response, the State may cite to State v. Gordon, 153 Wn. App. 516, 223 P.3d 519 (2009), reversed on other grounds, 172 Wn.2d 671 (2011). In Gordon, Division One first declared, without explanation, that the second degree felony murder statute "is not ambiguous." Gordon, 153 Wn. App. at 529. The Court then stated that, if the statute was ambiguous, looking at the legislative history clarified that the Legislature "wants assault to be a predicate felony," which means it should be so. Id. This Court should decline to follow Gordon, because that case was not well-reasoned and does not withstand scrutiny.

First, <u>Gordon</u> ignored the very language of the statute in finding it was not ambiguous. The language used by the 2003 Legislature did not

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