**NO. 45276-6-II**

---

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DENISE LARKINS, APPELLANT

---

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County  
The Honorable Jerry Costello

No. 11-1-05057-4

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

MARK LINDQUIST  
Prosecuting Attorney

By  
THOMAS C. ROBERTS  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South  
Room 946  
Tacoma, WA 98402  
PH: (253) 798-7400

**

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE SECOND DEGREE FELONY MURDER STATUTE IS NOT AMBIGUOUS; THE 2003 AMENDMENT AND ITS ACCOMPANYING STATEMENT OF INTENT MAKE CLEAR THE LEGISLATURE'S INTENT FOR ASSAULT TO BE A PREDICATE FELONY.

a. Defendant has not preserved the issue for review.

An appellate court "may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). "The rule comes from the principle that trial counsel and the defendant are obligated to seek a remedy to errors as they occur, or shortly thereafter." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). To raise an issue for the first time on appeal, an appellant must "identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the [appellant]'s rights at trial." *Id.* at 98 quoting *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988); *see also State v. Lynn*, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). The court must then determine if the error is manifest; that is, if the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case. *Lynn* 67 Wn. App. at 345. Even where defendant identifies an alleged constitutional error, the Court may refuse to review it if the error is not manifest. *State v. Haq*, 166 Wn. App. 221, 246, 268 P.3d 997 (2012).

Here, the defendant failed to object below to the charge of felony murder. For the first time on appeal, the defendant now argues that the statute by which she was charged was ambiguous. App. Br. At 10. The defendant does not claim any of the three conditions listed under RAP 2.5(a) in which an issue may be raised for the first time on appeal. Notably, the defendant fails to claim that the alleged ambiguity in the felony murder statute is a constitutional error that may be considered for the first time on appeal. Further, the defendant fails to show that the statute *is* ambiguous.

Because the defendant failed to raise the issue in the trial court, she cannot show any error on this issue because the trial court made no ruling on it. If the defendant wished to challenge the legal sufficiency of the Information, she had the obligation to raise it in the trial court. *See, e.g., State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). If the initial challenge is made for the first time on review, the defendant must meet a very high standard. *Id.*, at 105-106. If the defendant fails to raise a factual challenge to a charging document in the trial court, he waives the issue on appeal. *See State v. Mason*, 170 Wn. App. 375, 285 P.3d 154 (2012).

Now, on appeal, the defendant seems to argue that she could not know “which” assault the State relied on for charging: the assault “included” in all homicides; or a separate assault which happened to result

in death. In the trial court, the defendant's remedy was to request a bill of particulars. *See Mason*, at 385.

Because the defendant failed to object below and now improperly petitions the Court to review the issue for the first time on appeal, the matter is not properly before this Court.

- b. A plain reading and the 2003 amendment and accompanying statement of intent make clear the legislature's intent for assault to be a predicate felony.

The purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine and carry out the intent of the legislature. *State v. Alvarado*, 164 Wn.2d 556, 561, 192 P.3d 345 (2008). If the plain meaning of a statute is clear, the inquiry is over. *See State v. Sweat*, -Wn.2d-, 322 P.3d 1213 (2014). "In discerning the plain meaning of a provision, we consider the entire statute in which the provision is found, as well as related statutes or other provisions in the same act that disclose legislative intent." *Alvarado*, 164 Wn.2d at 562. Considering the history of the felony murder statute, especially in the context of the reaction of the Legislature to the *Andress* decision, the plain meaning of the felony murder statute is quite clear and unambiguous: it includes assault as a predicate felony.

Until the decision in *In Re Personal Restraint Petition of Andress*, 147 Wn.2d 602, 56 P.3d 981 (2002), the Washington State

Supreme Court consistently rejected arguments that the merger doctrine should preclude the use of a felony assault as a predicate crime for felony murder. *State v. Wanrow*, 91 Wn.2d 301, 588 P.2d 1320 (1978); *State v. Roberts*, 88 Wn.2d 337, 344 n.4, 562 P.2d 1259 (1977); *State v. Thompson*, 88 Wn.2d 13, 558 P.2d 202 (1977); *State v. Harris*, 69 Wn.2d 928, 421 P.2d 662 (1966). These decisions made it clear that the use of assault as a predicate felony presented an issue that was a question of legislative intent rather than one of constitutional dimension. *See Thompson*, 88 Wn.2d at 17-18.

Moreover, early Supreme Court cases indicated that the 1975 criminal code revisions, which were effective July 1, 1976, had not changed the Court's view on whether the assault merger doctrine should be applied to Washington's felony murder statute. *Thompson*, 88 Wn.2d at 17 ("the statutory context in question here was left unchanged."); *Wanrow*, 91 Wn.2d at 313 (Hicks, J., concurring) (Legislature did not modify *Harris* rule with the new 1976 criminal code).

Later decisions likewise applied the *Harris* reasoning to the current felony murder statute. *State v. Crane*, 116 Wn.2d 315, 333, 804 P.2d 10, *cert. denied*, 501 U.S. 1237 (1991) (citing *Wanrow* and *Thompson* and refusing to reconsider assault merger rule or constitutional challenges to felony murder); *State v. Leech*, 114 Wn.2d 700, 712, 790

P.2d 160 (1990) (refusing to reconsider *Wanrow* and constitutional challenges to felony murder rule); *State v. Johnson*, 92 Wn.2d 671, 681 n.6, 600 P.2d 1249 (1979) (recognizing that the *Harris* interpretation applied to new statute because the Legislature did not act to overrule it); *State v. Davis*, 121 Wn.2d 1, 7, n.5, 846 P.2d 527 (1993) (recognizing third degree assault could be predicate for felony murder); *State v. Tamalini*, 134 Wn.2d 725, 734, 953 P.2d 450 (1998) (recognizing second and third degree assault as predicate offenses for felony murder).

In *In Re Personal Restraint of Andress*, however, the Court made it clear that the comments it had made in *Wanrow*, *Thompson*, and *Roberts* were not equivalent to actually analyzing the changes to the statutory language and held that it had not, in fact, previously analyzed whether the changes to the statute enacted in 1975 somehow signaled a legislative intent to exclude felony assault as a predicate for felony murder. *Andress*, 147 Wn.2d at 609-616. The Court in *Andress* interpreted that the legislative addition of the “in furtherance of” language to the felony murder statutes signaled an intent by the legislature to remove assault as a predicate felony from the felony murder rule. *Id.* at 616.

Following the *Andress* decision, however, the Legislature amended the second degree felony murder statute, effective February 12,

2003, expressly declaring that assault is, and always had been, included among the predicate crimes under the second degree felony murder statute. Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 2. The statute proscribing felony murder in the second degree now reads, in the relevant part:

(1) A person is guilty of murder in the second degree when:

(b) He or she commits or attempts to commit *any* felony, *including assault*, other than those enumerated in RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c), and, in the course of and in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight therefrom, he or she, or another participant, causes the death of a person other than one of the participants;

RCW 9A.32.050 (emphasis added). The word “any” in a statute means “every” and “all.” *State v. Westling*, 145 Wn.2d 607, 612, 40 P.3d 669 (2002).

In Washington, the determination of whether felony assault can be a predicate felony for the felony murder statute has always been an issue of legislative intent rather than a constitutional question:

[W]e are now firmly convinced that adoption of the merger doctrine is not compelled either by principles of sound statutory construction or by the state or federal constitutions, and that adoption of the doctrine by this court would be an unwarranted and insupportable invasion of the legislative function in defining crimes. We therefore reaffirm this court’s refusal to apply the doctrine of merger to the crime of felony-murder in this state.

*Wanrow*, 91 Wn.2d at 303.

Thus, whether a felony assault can act as a predicate for felony murder is a question of legislative intent. *See also In Re Personal Restraint of Bowman*, 162 Wn.2d 325, 335, 172 P.3d 681 (2007). The Legislature made its intent in amending RCW 9A.32.050 even clearer by including an intent statement; stating, in part:

The legislature finds that the 1975 legislature clearly and unambiguously stated that *any felony, including assault*, can be a predicate offense for felony murder. The intent was evident: Punish, under the applicable murder statutes, those who commit a homicide in the course and in furtherance of a felony. This legislature reaffirms that original intent and further intends to honor and reinforce the court's decisions over the past twenty-eight years interpreting "in furtherance of" as requiring the death to be sufficiently close in time and proximity to the predicate felony. The legislature does not agree with or accept the court's findings of legislative intent in *State v. Andress*, [sic] Docket No. 71170-4 (October 24, 2002), and *reasserts that assault has always been and still remains a predicate offense for felony murder in the second degree.*

Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 1 (emphasis added).

Thus, for crimes committed after February 12, 2003, it is beyond dispute that the Legislature intended "that assault is included as a predicate crime under the second degree felony murder statute." *Bowman*, 162 Wn.2d at 335; Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 1. It is equally clear that the Legislature did not agree with the *Andress* court's interpretation of its prior intent and sought to nullify the impact of the *Andress* decision with the 2003 amendment.

Thus, the defendant's argument, which seeks to interpret the current felony murder statute in accord with the principles stated in the *Andress* decision, *see* App.Br. at 10-12, ignores the legislative statement of intent. The Legislature did not intend to incorporate the principles announced in *Andress*, it intended to render them moot. The Legislature does not agree with the majority opinion in *Andress* that including assault as a predicate felony for felony murder leads to "absurd results." Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 1. The "legislative branch has the power to define criminal conduct and assign punishment for such conduct," *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 776, 888 P.2d 155 (1995) (citing *Whalen v. United States*, 445 U.S. 684, 689, 100 S. Ct. 1432, 63 L. Ed. 2d 715 (1980)), and the Legislature has made its intent clear that it intends felony assault to function as a predicate offense for the felony murder statute.

Essentially, the defendant is now asking this Court to find that the principles articulated in the majority opinion of *Andress* should be applied to this conviction despite the fact that this offense date was December 16, 2011, years after the legislative amendments designed to stop the impact of *Andress* went into effect. Thus, the defendant asks this Court to re-interpret the Legislature's clear intent and limit felony murder to instances where assault is separate from the act causing death. This Court should

decline such an invitation to violate the separation of powers; and affirm defendant's conviction.

Indeed, this was precisely the holding of Division 1 of this Court in *State v. Gordon*, 153 Wn. App. 516, 526-529, 223 P.3d 519 (2009), *rev'd on other grounds*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 260 P.3d 884 (2011). In *Gordon*, a case which also arose from Pierce County Superior Court, the Court rejected virtually the same argument advanced by the defendant here. There, as here, the defendant argued that “under canons... of statutory construction and the rule of lenity, this court should interpret the second degree felony murder statute to allow assault to serve as the predicate felony only where the assault is not also the act that causes the death.” *Gordon*, 153 Wn. App. at 527. Compare Br.App. at 19–21. However, the Court concluded that:

[t]he [second-degree felony murder] *statute is not ambiguous*. But, even if we assume the statute was ambiguous and look at the legislative history of the statute as Gordon urges, we see that the res gestae issue is no longer problematic. The reasoning in *Andress* concerning res gestae involved statutory construction principles to derive the legislature's intent. The 2003 amendment in response to the holding in *Andress* and *its accompanying statement of intent make it clear the legislature wants assault to be a predicate felony*.

*Id.* at 529 (emphasis added).

The defendant argues that *Gordon* "was not well-reasoned and does not withstand scrutiny." App. Br. at 13. But the court's opinion in *Gordon* simply reemphasized what the Legislature already made clear when it enacted its statement of intent in 2003 and expressly rejected *Andress*' findings of legislative intent: "[A]ssault has always been and still remains a predicate offense for felony murder in the second degree." Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 1. The *Gordon* court incorporated, rather than ignored, the Supreme Court's holding in *Bowman*, which recognized that "following our decision in *Andress*, the legislature amended the second degree felony murder statute, effective February 12, 2003, to clarify that assault is included as a predicate crime under the second degree felony murder statute." *Bowman*, 162 Wn.2d 325 at 335. As with *Gordon*, this Court should similarly decline this defendant's invitation to usurp a legislative function and impose the merger doctrine by judicial fiat. It should affirm defendant's conviction.

2. A PROSECUTING ATTORNEY'S DISCRETION TO CHARGE FELONY MURDER INSTEAD OF INTENTIONAL MURDER DOES NOT VIOLATE EQUAL PROTECTION.

Where the prosecuting attorney has the discretion to charge crimes that require proof of different elements, there is no equal protection violation. *State v. Leech*, 114 Wn.2d at 711; *State v. Wanrow*, 91 Wn.2d

at 311. This is true where the elements of felony murder differ from those of first degree manslaughter. *State v. Parr*, 93 Wn.2d 95, 97, 606 P.2d 263 (1980). This is true where the prosecuting attorney chooses between alternative means of the same crime. See *State v. Belleman*, 70 Wn. App. 778, 784, 856 P.2d 403 (1993) (alternative means of assault in the third degree); and *State v. Armstrong*, 143 Wn. App. 333, 178 P.3d 1048 (2008) (alternative means of murder in the second degree).

Defendant's equal protection argument was adversely decided in *Armstrong*. Armstrong was charged with second-degree intentional murder and felony murder predicated on assault arising from the same act. The jury found him guilty.

As in the current case, Armstrong argued that the statute permitted the prosecutor to arbitrarily charge felony murder rather than intentional murder. *Armstrong*, 143 Wn. App. at 339; App. Br. at 20. Armstrong also argued that it was unfair and overly harsh for felony murder and intentional murder to be punished equally. *Id.* at 343.

In holding that the felony murder statute does not violate equal protection, the Court of Appeals found that those charged under the statute do not constitute a suspect or semi-suspect class. 143 Wn. App. at 335. In *Armstrong*, the Court of Appeals noted that the Washington Supreme Court has previously ruled against equal protection challenges to the

felony murder statute in *Wanrow* and *Leech*. There, the defendants also complained of the prosecutor's discretion to charge felony murder instead of manslaughter.

Here, the defendant correctly cites *Armstrong* for the proposition that "[w]hen the crimes have different elements, the prosecutor's discretion is not arbitrary, but is constrained by which elements can be proved under the circumstances." App. Br. at 18. However, defendant overlooks that *Armstrong* found that manslaughter and felony murder have different elements and that "second degree intentional murder and second degree felony murder based on assault have different elements." *Armstrong*, 143 Wn. App. at 341. *Armstrong* continued, "[t]he intent to commit the assault (which proximately causes death) and the intent to cause a death are different, requiring different proof" and concluded that "[b]ecause the two statutes require proof of different elements, *they do not violate equal protection* under this alternative test." *Armstrong*, 143 Wn. App. at 341–342 (emphasis added).

Charging intentional murder or felony murder, or both in the alternative, is not charging different crimes with different punishments. They are alternative means of committing the same crime. *See State v. Ramos*, 163 Wn.2d 654, 184 P.3d 1256 (2008). They have the same punishment. *See* RCW 9.94A.525(9). The harshness of the sentence is a

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